
 

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be set forth in a memorandum and also 

incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of the present 

record to the Documents Management Section (DMS-DCM@un.org). 

Any corrected records of the public meetings of the Committee at this session will be reissued for 

technical reasons after the end of the session. 

GE.18-16921  (E)    121018    151018 



Human Rights Committee 
124th session 

Summary record of the 3532nd meeting 

Held at the Palais Wilson, Geneva, on Tuesday, 9 October 2018, at 3 p.m.  

Chair: Ms. Waterval (Rapporteur) 

Contents 

Consideration of reports submitted by States parties under article 40 of the Covenant 

(continued) 

Fifth periodic report of the Sudan 

 United Nations CCPR/C/SR.3532 

 

International Covenant on 
Civil and Political Rights 

Distr.: General 

15 October 2018 

 

Original: English 



CCPR/C/SR.3532 

2 GE.18-16921 

In the absence of Mr. Shany, Ms. Waterval (Rapporteur) took the Chair. 

The meeting was called to order at 3 p.m. 

  Consideration of reports submitted by States parties under article 40 of the Covenant 

(continued) 

Fifth periodic report of the Sudan (CCPR/SDN/5; CCPR/C/SDN/Q/5; and 

CCPR/C/SDN/Q/5/Add.1) 

1. At the invitation of the Chair, the delegation of the Sudan took places at the 

Committee table. 

2. Mr. Dugdug (Sudan) said that every effort had been made to ensure that the State 

party’s report was both transparent and objective. The Sudan had striven to implement the 

letter and spirit of the Covenant through its legislation, policies and practices. In addition to 

introducing the legislative amendments listed in paragraph 8 of the report, in 2017 his 

Government had adopted the Act on the National Council of Persons with Disabilities. 

3. The State reform programme launched in 2014 covered all aspects of public life and 

human rights while focusing on human resources development in the civil service and on 

legislative, legal and judicial reform. In the wake of the National Dialogue Conference, his 

Government had adopted 52 recommendations aimed, inter alia, at advancing the State’s 

foreign relations and making improvements in the media, and a constitutional drafting 

mechanism had also been set up. The National Security Act, the Code of Criminal 

Procedure, the Code of Civil Procedure and the Constitutional Court Act had been 

amended, and in 2017 a law had been introduced which provided for the establishment of a 

public prosecutor’s office that would be independent from the Ministry of Justice. The 

amendments made to the interim Constitution had faithfully reflected the outcome of the 

national dialogue and had therefore helped to build trust between the Government and the 

opposition. It was still possible for political parties and armed groups that had not 

participated in the dialogue earlier to join in. In that context, it should be noted that, in 

March 2017, the President had amnestied 256 members of armed groups who had been 

arrested while fighting government forces.  

4. The action taken on those fronts had strengthened human rights and fundamental 

freedoms. The Sudan was party to most of the core international human rights treaties and 

had ratified the United Nations Convention against Corruption in September 2017. At the 

beginning of October 2018, the President had issued a presidential decree by which the 

State had ratified the Convention against Discrimination in Education, the African Union 

Convention on Preventing and Fighting Corruption, the Protocol against the Smuggling of 

Migrants by Land, Sea and Air, supplementing the United Nations Convention against 

Transnational Organized Crime, and the Protocol against the Illicit Manufacturing of and 

Trafficking in Firearms, Their Parts and Components and Ammunition, supplementing the 

United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime.  

5. The independent human rights institutions of the Sudan included the Constitutional 

Court, whose final and binding decisions had succeeded in entrenching constitutional 

principles. The Chair and members of the National Human Rights Commission had been 

appointed, and the requisite human and financial resources had been allocated to it. The 

Special Court for Darfur had issued a number of rulings and was still considering several 

other cases.  

6. His Government was fully committed to its unilateral declaration of a ceasefire in 

Darfur, Southern Kordofan and Blue Nile, which had been renewed in July 2018. The 

humanitarian situation in conflict areas had stabilized, and the campaign to collect arms 

was continuing. The Government was directing its main efforts towards the development 

and rehabilitation of those areas in order to establish peace and security on a sustainable 

basis. It had likewise striven to open up humanitarian corridors in order to provide the 

necessary assistance to the population in conflict areas, in cooperation with its partners. 

That effort had been recognized in the report of the Secretary-General on the African 

Union-United Nations Hybrid Operation in Darfur (S/2018/389). However, the Sudan was 

receiving a growing number of asylum seekers from neighbouring countries and elsewhere 

http://undocs.org/en/CCPR/C/SDN/Q/5
http://undocs.org/en/CCPR/C/SDN/Q/5/Add.1
http://undocs.org/en/S/2018/389


CCPR/C/SR.3532 

GE.18-16921 3 

in the region, and that influx was placing an additional burden on his own country’s limited 

resources. 

7. The Sudan, a transit country for migrants attempting to reach Europe, was making a 

tremendous effort to combat human trafficking and transnational organized crime and to 

provide assistance to trafficking and other crime victims.  

8. The 2013–2023 Action Plan for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights 

focused on human rights education, the advancement of economic, social, civil and political 

rights and the protection of women’s and children’s rights and the rights of persons with 

disabilities. The Sudan was committed to cooperation with the special procedures of the 

Human Rights Council. In 2018, it had welcomed visits from the Special Representative of 

the Secretary-General on Sexual Violence in Conflict, the Special Representative of the 

Secretary-General for Children and Armed Conflict and the Independent Expert on the 

situation of human rights in the Sudan. It had also cooperated with the African Union-

United Nations Hybrid Operation in Darfur (UNAMID). Another action plan had been 

finalized by his Government and the United Nations for the protection of children in areas 

of armed conflict. The implementation of that plan had led to the Sudan being removed 

from one of the Secretary-General’s lists of countries where armed groups and armed forces 

recruited and used children. 

9. In the interests of peace and stability, his Government had hosted negotiations 

between the Government of South Sudan and the opposition movement and had mediated 

the peace agreement signed in August 2018. The Sudan had also made substantial progress 

in acting upon the recommendations made during the second cycle of the universal periodic 

review. The Minister of Justice had issued Decision No. 1 of 2017 on the formation of a 

technical committee to follow up on the implementation of those recommendations. The 

voluntary interim report to the universal periodic review mechanism would be ready for 

submission by December 2018. All that work had been achieved with a very limited supply 

of local resources and without any financial support or assistance from the mechanism or 

any other donor.  

10. His Government had demonstrated its resolve to promote and protect human rights 

and to address the challenges it was facing in that respect by establishing a national human 

rights strategy and crafting plans for reducing illiteracy, combating poverty and expanding 

the right to education in order to promote the full enjoyment of human rights. Achieving 

peace was an indispensable foundation for building an enabling environment to that end.  

11. Mr. Heyns said that, with reference to question 1 on the list of issues, he would like 

to know to what extent courts in the Sudan referred to the Covenant in their decisions. The 

example provided in paragraph 16 of the State party’s report concerned a judgment which 

appeared to have been based on the Constitution rather than on the Covenant. He wished to 

know what measures had been adopted to give effect to the Committee’s recommendations, 

especially in view of the lack of any follow-up to the Committee’s previous concluding 

observations (CCPR/C/SDN/CO/4). He would be interested to learn why the State party 

had not yet ratified the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination 

against Women or the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading 

Treatment or Punishment and when it planned to do so. The legislation mentioned in the 

report in connection with the legal definition of torture did not cover all the elements listed 

in the latter Convention. 

12. With regard to question 2, he wished to know whether the National Human Rights 

Commission was independently funded in accordance with the Paris Principles. The fact 

that the Chair of the Commission was appointed by the President and was answerable to 

him called into question the independence of the Commission’s members. Were there any 

plans to apply for accreditation from the Global Alliance of National Human Rights 

Institutions (GANHRI)?  

13. With regard to question 3, on the status of the State reform programme, the 

Committee wished to know whether supervisory systems for the intelligence services were 

in place, given the fact that they had been granted law enforcement powers in 2016 and 

reported directly to the President. The Committee was also keen to learn more about the 

review that was being undertaken of the laws on female genital mutilation, apostasy, 

http://undocs.org/en/CCPR/C/SDN/CO/4


CCPR/C/SR.3532 

4 GE.18-16921 

stoning, whipping, discrimination and religiously motivated hate speech or crimes. As the 

veritable legal revolution that was taking place appeared to be straining the capacity of the 

lawyers who were assisting with the drafting of the new laws, he wondered whether the 

Sudan required or was receiving technical assistance from the United Nations Office of the 

High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) and other United Nations departments.  

14. Lastly, with reference to question 12 on the right to life in situations of armed 

conflict, the Committee was concerned about the issue of accountability for violations of 

that right before and during the ceasefire in Darfur, Southern Kordofan and Blue Nile. 

Another concern was that the Rapid Support Forces, which apparently also reported 

directly to the President, were alleged to have committed human rights violations. He 

would therefore be grateful if the delegation could comment on their role and on 

investigations into allegations that large-scale attacks on villages in Darfur in 2014 and 

2016 had resulted in a large number of casualties. He also wished to know whether any 

investigations had been conducted into the deaths resulting from attacks on the Jebel Marra 

area in 2016 in which evidence obtained by Amnesty International suggested that chemical 

weapons had been deployed. He would also be interested to hear the delegation’s comments 

on reports that organizations providing humanitarian assistance had been denied access to 

opposition-held areas in Southern Kordofan and Blue Nile since 2011. In that connection, 

he wished to know to what extent government officials were held to account for serious 

human rights violations. Was the International Criminal Court regarded as a means of 

ensuring accountability?  

15. Mr. Ben Achour, referring to question 4 on the list of issues, said that he wondered 

to what extent article 211 of the Constitution could be deemed compatible with article 4 of 

the Covenant and why the state of emergency in North Kordofan and Kassala had not ended 

on 30 June 2018. Was there a special tribunal tasked with reviewing the legality of arrests 

and detentions made during the state of emergency or were those matters reviewed by 

ordinary courts? He wished to know if arbitrary arrest and detention was a prosecutable 

offence and whether the Secretary-General had been notified, in accordance with article 3 

(4) of the Covenant, of the measures taken under the state of emergency.  

16. With regard to the death penalty, he would like to know whether the Government of 

the Sudan had modified the list of crimes subject to the death penalty to make it compatible 

with article 6 (2) of the Covenant and whether the Anti-Human Trafficking Act had been 

amended to that end. Article 27 of the State party’s Criminal Code provided for stoning 

accompanied by crucifixion as a method of execution. How could such practices be deemed 

compatible with the Covenant or indeed with the Convention against Torture and Other 

Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment? Stoning was a form of torture, as 

well as a denial of human dignity, and was therefore also a violation of article 16 of the 

Covenant. Article 27 of the Criminal Code should be amended as a matter of the greatest 

urgency. 

17. He would welcome information on specific cases in which perpetrators of acts of 

torture, including law enforcement officials, had been brought to trial and would like to 

know whether the State party envisaged granting reparations to their victims. He would also 

appreciate an update on the status of the bill that would amend the 1991 Criminal Code and 

would be interested to hear the delegation’s comments on the proposed definition of torture 

contained therein. Information would also be welcome on the steps taken by the State party 

towards acceding to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or 

Degrading Treatment or Punishment. Lastly, he would appreciate the State party’s 

comments on the charges made in a recent report of the Special Rapporteur on torture and 

other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment that the individuals Amgad al-

Tayeb, Ali Abdelatif, Madawi Ibrahim Adam, Irwa al-Sadig and Ismail Hamdoun had been 

subjected to torture in the Sudan. 

18. Mr. Politi said that he would be interested to hear the delegation’s explanation of 

how article 31 of the interim Constitution could be interpreted as being fully consistent with 

article 26 of the Covenant. Were there any plans to amend the wording of that article to 

introduce a comprehensive list of prohibited grounds for discrimination, including national 

or social origin, property, and birth or other status? He would be interested to learn of any 

measures that the State party had taken or planned to take to eliminate all discriminatory 



CCPR/C/SR.3532 

GE.18-16921 5 

provisions from Sudanese laws, including those that permitted discrimination on the 

grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity. He would also appreciate a full account 

of the measures that had been taken to uphold the principle of gender equality as set out in 

article 32 of the interim Constitution. Detailed information would be welcome on the 

content of the bill that would criminalize discrimination on the basis of religion or race, as 

well as on the foreseeable time frame for its adoption. In addition, he would be interested to 

hear the delegation’s comments on the reports of violations of religious freedom targeting 

Christians and their places of worship, including the demolition and unlawful confiscation 

and sale of church property and the arrest and harassment of church leaders. In that regard, 

he would appreciate information on measures that the State party intended to adopt to 

prevent such violations from reoccurring in the future. Additional information on the State 

party’s mechanisms for handling and responding to reports of discrimination would also be 

appreciated. More specifically, he would like to know how the members of those bodies 

were appointed, what guarantees of due process were in place for complainants, whether 

complainants had the right of appeal and what type of legal aid was available for indigent 

complainants. 

19. Could the State party clarify whether sodomy among consenting adults was 

considered to be a crime in all circumstances? He was interested to know whether the State 

party intended to repeal article 148 of the Criminal Code to ensure compliance with articles 

2, 17 and 26 of the Covenant. In addition, it would be useful to receive statistical data on 

criminal proceedings dealing with the crime of indecent acts, convictions on such charges 

and criminal complaints based on those charges lodged by aggrieved parties. Lastly, 

information would be appreciated on any awareness-raising campaigns or other concrete 

measures carried out to combat stereotypes and discrimination based on sexual orientation 

and gender identity. 

20. Ms. Cleveland said that she wished to receive further information on the State 

party’s plans to review and amend its personal status and child custody legislation and, in 

particular, the articles of the Personal Status Code that provided that a woman’s marriage 

contract must be concluded by a male guardian, conferred different rights in marriage on 

men and women and mandated that wives must be obedient to their husbands. In addition, 

the State party should clarify what the legal age for marriage was considered to be for the 

purposes of article 15 (1) of the Constitution and what the relationship was between article 

15 (1) and the Personal Status Code, which reportedly provided for the marriage of girls as 

young as 10. It would also be useful to know whether the State party planned to set the 

legal age for marriage at 18, in line with the definition of a child contained in the Sudanese 

Children’s Act. She would welcome information on any awareness-raising or other 

initiatives for preventing early marriage and for providing support to victims of early 

marriage, especially children belonging to vulnerable groups. 

21. She would be grateful for the State party’s comments on the case of Noura Hussein, 

who had been sentenced to death for killing her husband as he was attempting to rape her. It 

had been reported that the State prosecutor was seeking to overturn a court ruling that had 

quashed that death sentence. Was that accurate? She would be interested to learn what the 

State party was doing to ensure that the death penalty was not applied in Ms. Hussein’s 

case and, in addition, to have her commuted sentence of 5 years’ imprisonment and a large 

fine be reconsidered on the grounds that it was disproportionate. She would also welcome 

information on any measures that the State had taken to ensure that the Sudanese courts 

gave appropriate consideration to situations of forced marriage, rape and other forms of 

gender-based violence in criminal proceedings of the type brought against Ms. Hussein. 

Were there plans to eliminate polygamy in law and in practice? She would like to invite the 

State party to clarify its time frame for ratifying the Convention on the Elimination of All 

Forms of Discrimination against Women. 

22. It would be helpful for the State party to explain how the criminalization of marital 

rape in article 149 of the Criminal Code was reconciled with the provisions of the Personal 

Status Code that could be construed to imply that a wife could be forced to engage in 

sexual relations with her husband. In that regard, she would welcome confirmation that the 

State party did indeed plan to further amend article 149 so as to explicitly prohibit marital 

rape. She would appreciate information on any measures taken by the State party to inform 



CCPR/C/SR.3532 

6 GE.18-16921 

police officers, prosecutors, judges and the public at large that marital rape was a crime and 

to educate them about domestic and gender-based violence in general. It would be useful to 

know how many police officers had been trained in such matters and where they were 

posted. She would be interested to know whether the State party had taken steps to ensure 

that cases of sexual, domestic and gender-based violence were reported and investigated 

and that persons who committed such acts were prosecuted and punished. In particular, she 

wished to know whether any steps had been taken to provide access to reporting 

mechanisms and police protection in remote areas, combat stigmatization, ensure access to 

legal assistance and put an end to the practice of extrajudicial reconciliation, especially 

when such reconciliation involved the marriage of the victim and the perpetrator. 

23. She also wished to know what was being done to provide women victims of 

domestic and gender-based violence with access to medical, legal and psychosocial support. 

Information would be appreciated on how the State party planned to respond to criticism 

that its investigations into past cases of mass rape by security forces and Government-

backed militias had been ineffective and whether it intended to reopen investigations into 

those cases. It would be useful to know what the State party was doing to encourage 

women to report sexual violence perpetrated by members of government forces and to 

investigate and prosecute those responsible. Could the State party also clarify whether the 

immunity from prosecution established under article 34 (2) of the Armed Forces Act of 

2007 applied to suspected cases of rape committed by members of security forces? 

24. Finally, she would like to receive information on the incidence of maternal mortality 

resulting from unsafe abortion and on any prosecutions opened under article 135 of the 

Criminal Code, which criminalized the voluntary termination of pregnancy, and any 

sentences imposed. In that regard, it would be useful to know what measures the State party 

had taken to revise its legislation in order to make it unnecessary for women to resort to 

unsafe abortions, to ensure that women and girls had access to post-abortion care and to 

ensure that medical professionals were appropriately trained in safe pregnancy termination 

procedures. Furthermore, she would be interested to learn what the State party had done to 

improve access to adequate sexual and reproductive health-care services and education and 

to contraception for all persons in the Sudan, including vulnerable populations. It would 

also be useful to know in what circumstances access to emergency contraception was 

available in the Sudan. 

25. Mr. Muhumuza said that he wished to know what sanctions the State party 

imposed on perpetrators of female genital mutilation and whether any reparations were 

offered to victims. It would also be useful to know whether corrective surgery and 

psychological counselling were offered to victims in order to mitigate the physical and 

psychological harm that they had endured. The delegation might also provide information 

on any awareness-raising campaigns it had organized at the community level to sensitize 

traditional leaders, imams and families to the negative health consequences of female 

genital mutilation. He was interested to know whether the State party had considered 

offering economic compensation to the so-called “surgeons” who stood to lose revenue as a 

result of the discontinuation of the practice of female genital mutilation; that approach had 

been used in other communities and seemed to have produced positive results. Lastly, he 

would welcome information on any other measures that the State party had taken to combat 

female genital mutilation, as well as statistics on the incidence of the practice in the Sudan, 

the number of complaints received by public authorities, the number of investigations and 

prosecutions mounted and concluded, and the number of convictions secured and sentences 

served. 

The meeting was suspended at 4.20 p.m. and resumed at 4.45 p.m. 

26. Mr. Dugdug (Sudan) said that the delegation would answer as many of the 

Committee’s questions as time allowed. Any issues that remained pending would be 

addressed in writing and sent to the Committee following the conclusion of the meeting. 

27. The aim of the decision to extend the state of emergency in Kassala and Northern 

Kordofan had been to recover arms, ammunition, explosives and illegal vehicles and to 

fight crimes that threatened the security of the country’s citizens, such as human trafficking 



CCPR/C/SR.3532 

GE.18-16921 7 

and drug smuggling. Campaigns to collect weapons had already been seen to have a 

positive impact on security and stability in other areas of the country. 

28. While it was true that Sudanese law still provided for capital punishment, a person 

could be sentenced to death only following a fair investigation and a fair trial. Furthermore, 

there were additional safeguards in place relating to the use of capital punishment, 

including the right to appeal, the right of the victim’s family to have the penalty reduced 

and the possibility of being granted amnesty by the President in the case of political crimes. 

Although the Criminal Code did provide for stoning and crucifixion as a method of 

execution, that method had never been used. A bill had been submitted to amend those 

provisions and the matter was therefore under review. 

29. A special office had been set up by the Prosecutor General to investigate the crimes 

committed in Darfur. Statistics in the possession of that office, in addition to detailed 

information on the investigations being carried out on the ground, would be sent to the 

Committee following the conclusion of the meeting. With regard to the National Human 

Rights Commission, although the President appointed its Chair, the members of the 

Commission were independent and it had an independent budget. As with any new body, 

the Commission faced certain challenges. However, every effort was being made to 

overcome those challenges and to improve the Commission’s performance in line with 

international standards and recommendations. 

30. Ms. Abdelhalim Ahmed (Sudan) said that important steps were being taken in the 

fight against female genital mutilation at both the federal and state levels. Further to talks 

held with the African Union, a modernized law that would prohibit the practice had been 

prepared and approved by the Council of Ministers and would soon be submitted to the 

National Assembly for ratification. By 2014, four states had already adopted legislation to 

criminalize female genital mutilation and, since then, two more had followed suit. 

According to the information available to the delegation, as of 2006, 43 per cent of girls 

aged 14 years or under had been subjected to female genital mutilation. By 2014, that figure 

had dropped to 31.1 per cent. Three regions had already claimed to have successfully 

eliminated the practice. 

31. While the Committee would be kept informed on the progress made concerning the 

ratification of the law to prohibit female genital mutilation, the Government believed that 

raising awareness in the community was a more effective method of combating the 

problem. The Government had launched two awareness-raising campaigns; the “Salima” 

campaign was aimed at children and the Mercy campaign dealt with both harmful practices 

and domestic violence. Female genital mutilation was primarily performed by traditional 

midwives and, with the participation of the World Health Organization (WHO), the United 

Nations Population Fund and religious leaders, a project had been launched to provide 

those practitioners with alternative means of earning a living.  

32. The death sentence that Noura Hussein had originally received would not be 

reinstated. The Criminal Code included provisions under which acts of marital violence and 

sexual violence in marital relations were defined as criminal offences. If a wife submitted a 

formal complaint, she was entitled to ask for a divorce and, under sharia law, women had 

the right to refuse to enter into a polygamous marriage and to include a provision in the 

marriage contract indicating that they would be entitled to ask for a divorce if their husband 

were to take a second wife.  

33. The Unit for Combating Violence against Women and Children had been 

established in 2005. It had worked with United Nations agencies on several projects in the 

Sudan, including investigations into a number of reports of cases of rape. Those 

investigations had proved that those rapes had not taken place and another investigation had 

found that the number of women who had been gang raped had been misrepresented. 

Reports to that effect had been submitted to the Special Representative of the Secretary-

General on Sexual Violence in Conflict, along with information on the persons concerned, 

including members of the police and the armed forces, but none of those cases had been 

substantiated. Similarly, with regard to the rapes that were alleged to have taken place in 

the village of Thabit in 2014, an enquiry had been carried out and the allegations had been 

found to be untrue. The United Nations Security Council had been briefed on the matter. 



CCPR/C/SR.3532 

8 GE.18-16921 

34. The Government had worked with WHO to establish reproductive health 

programmes and services for women who had been victims of rape. Those services 

included medical and psychological treatment, and legal support was available. Women had 

the right to undergo an abortion during the first 90 days of pregnancy if their life was in 

danger, if they had been raped or if the unborn child was unlikely to survive the birth. 

Comprehensive services were provided for women undergoing an abortion, and the 

procedures involved in such cases has been established and were followed throughout the 

country. Around 3,500 sociologists had received specialized training and, although the 

Ministry of Justice had declared that victims were not obliged to submit a legal complaint, 

police officers had been trained how to register complaints from rape victims. The Criminal 

Code had been amended in 2015 to distinguish between the offence of rape and that of 

adultery and to criminalize sexual harassment for the first time. A commission had also 

been set up in cooperation with United Nations agencies, including WHO, to raise 

awareness about violence against women and about the Convention on the Elimination of 

All Forms of Discrimination against Women.  

35. Women police officers played an important role in protecting the rights of women 

civilians in the Sudan, particularly in conflict areas. The Government had worked with 

UNAMID on that issue, and a training guide had been prepared. It was hoped that technical 

aid would be provided to support the training of more women police officers in the areas 

where they were needed the most, including the states of Northern Kordofan and Blue Nile. 

36. Regarding the concerns raised about discrimination on the grounds of sexual 

orientation, the fact was that the Sudanese Constitution characterized the family as being 

the result of marriage, which it defined as a union between a man and a woman. Although 

same-sex marriage went against that provision, the Constitution associated rights with 

citizenship, and all Sudanese citizens therefore enjoyed the same rights, regardless of any 

other factors.  

37. The country had been asked to amend its legislation so as to define marital rape as a 

specific criminal offence. Since 1991, the Criminal Code had contained a provision on the 

offence of sexual violence in a marriage, which encompassed marital rape. It was important 

for States to understand their obligations, so the Sudan had asked for a clear definition of 

marital rape from the Committee on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against 

Women. In the meantime, although the exact term did not appear in the country’s 

Constitution, marital rape remained illegal under the Sudanese Criminal Code. 

38. Mr. Eltahir (Sudan) said that the Sudanese Constitution had been amended in May 

2017 to remove certain provisions that had been introduced in 2016. As a result, there was 

no longer such a strong emphasis on the State security apparatus, and new provisions had 

been introduced to strengthen the political freedom of the country’s citizens. The 

Government’s Rapid Support Forces were part of the military, and all military forces 

answered to the President of the Republic. The allegations concerning the Rapid Support 

Forces were baseless and had been invented by rebel forces. The same was true of the 

allegations relating to the use of “poisonous smoke”. Local authorities had held meetings 

with mayors and hospital assistants in the areas in question and had found that the 

allegations were false.  

39. With regard to the question posed earlier by Mr. Ben Achour, arbitrary arrests were 

not permitted in the Sudan. The regulations that governed the activities of the national 

security forces allowed for the arrests that had been made during the state of emergency, 

and those arrests had not contravened article 9 of the Covenant. Special courts monitored 

the actions taken by security forces, and a judge had been appointed by the public 

prosecutor to carry out inspections of detention facilities on a daily basis. The detentions in 

question had tended to be short, although their duration depended on the particular 

circumstances of each case. If the length of any detention exceeded a month, the case would 

automatically be submitted to the courts for a decision as to whether the detainee should be 

held any longer. Any period of detention that exceeded that duration ceased to be 

considered as a case of pretrial detention.  

40. Amgad al-Tayeb, Ali Abdelatif and others had been arrested by the police for 

promoting riotous behaviour during the September demonstrations, and legal proceedings 



CCPR/C/SR.3532 

GE.18-16921 9 

had been instituted against them. Irwa al-Sadig had been sentenced to a one-year prison 

term. The trials had been conducted in public and had been attended by representatives of a 

number of international organizations and diplomatic missions based in Khartoum. None of 

the defendants had claimed to have been tortured during the investigation or while their 

trial was taking place. 

41. Mr. Eltahir (Sudan) said that, although Christians accounted for just 3 per cent of 

the population of the Sudan, there were 320 churches in Khartoum, of which 56 had been 

granted permits by the local authorities and 264 had been unlawfully built in private 

houses, farms or cemeteries. The allegations concerning the demolition of churches were 

unfounded. If complaints were filed about churches built on private property, the cases 

were investigated and a judgment was handed down. Christian religious leaders were not 

prosecuted for preaching their faith. If they were suspected of having committed criminal 

offences, they were represented by defence counsel and their cases were heard in the 

ordinary criminal courts. For example, the Reverend Hassan Abdelrahim Tawor had been 

charged with espionage and collaboration with rebel groups and sentenced to a 15-year 

prison term.  

42. Mr. Dugdug (Sudan) said that torture was a criminal offence in the Sudan. Isolated 

cases had occurred, but the perpetrators had been prosecuted. Studies had been conducted 

in connection with the possible ratification of the Convention against Torture and Other 

Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, and consultations had been 

conducted with stakeholders. Reviews of the country’s jurisprudence indicated that the 

Convention could, in all likelihood, be ratified in due course. 

43. The challenges faced in securing access for humanitarian aid workers in the past had 

been surmounted. The ceasefire in Southern Kordofan, Blue Nile and Darfur had been 

upheld, weapons had been successfully collected and the agricultural sector was thriving. 

Procedures leading to notification of the United Nations Secretary-General of the 

termination of the state of emergency had been initiated.  

44. He could confirm that there was no religious discrimination whatsoever against 

Christians in the Sudan. Christians actually organized fast-breaking meals in churches at 

the end of Ramadan, and Christian churches had been visited by senior government 

officials. Muslims and Christians coexisted peacefully and there was no hatred or animosity 

between the two communities. Equality before the law was guaranteed by the Constitution. 

Challenges naturally arose when it came to guaranteeing adherence to that principle, but 

vigorous action was taken to address and surmount any problems that arose in that 

connection.  

45. Mr. Mustafa Ahmed (Sudan) said that the Minister of Justice had established a 

technical committee composed of a range of specialists and representatives of civil society 

to monitor the action taken pursuant to the recommendations issued during the universal 

periodic review sessions and by treaty bodies.  

46. Mr. Heyns said that the question arose as to how much reliance could be placed on 

national human rights institutions; such institutions certainly promoted human rights in 

some cases, but in other cases they simply served as a vacuous public relations exercise or 

consumed resources without having any positive impact. The Committee was concerned 

about the degree to which the Sudanese National Human Rights Commission complied 

with the Paris Principles and wondered whether it would be recognized by GANHRI. The 

fact that the President and Vice-President of the Commission were appointed by the 

President of the Sudan, pursuant to the National Human Rights Commission Act, cast some 

doubt upon the Commission’s independence. The appointment process should be inclusive, 

according to the Paris Principles, and the budget should not require the President’s 

approval. It was unclear whether the Commission was authorized to conduct investigations 

and to receive individual complaints. Furthermore, as members of the police force and of 

the National Intelligence and Security Services enjoyed immunity from prosecution, 

presumably they could not be investigated either. He wondered whether such shortcomings 

could be addressed through training, capacity-building and the amendment of the applicable 

legislation.  



CCPR/C/SR.3532 

10 GE.18-16921 

47. Mr. Ben Achour, noting that stoning and crucifixion, according to the delegation, 

had not occurred in the Sudan in recent times, said that article 27 of the Criminal Code was 

therefore out of date and should be amended in order to align the State party’s legislation 

with the status quo. 

48. Ms. Cleveland said that she had taken note of the information that had been 

provided about laws and policies concerning the status of women and protection against 

gender-based violence. However, no information had yet been provided concerning their 

enforcement or protective action on behalf of victims. Statistics concerning the number of 

complaints of rape filed, the number of investigations undertaken and the prosecution and 

punishment of perpetrators would allow the Committee to arrive at a more concrete 

understanding of the actual situation. She wished to know how many police officers in 

Darfur had been trained to deal with complaints of rape, how many complaints they had 

received and how many persons had been successfully prosecuted for marital rape since the 

amendment of the applicable legislation. Had concrete steps been taken to amend article 40 

of the Personal Status Code and to establish 18 years as the legal age for marriage? 

49. She appreciated the fact that women had the option to request that their spouse 

should refrain from practising polygamy, but she also wished to know whether the State 

party’s legislation permitted women to have more than one husband and whether it 

regulated divorce and dissolution of property ownership under those circumstances. 

50. Mr. Politi asked whether the authorities had the discretionary power to authorize the 

demolition of churches that were deemed to have been established unlawfully or whether 

proceedings could be instituted on behalf of associations or individuals that claimed that 

those churches had been lawfully established. He would like to receive information 

concerning the Czech aid worker, Petr Jasek, who had been sentenced to life imprisonment 

for espionage and other offences. He also wished to know whether the State party intended 

to repeal article 148 of the Criminal Code concerning the crime of sodomy.  

51. Mr. Dugdug (Sudan) said that many churches that had been built without a permit 

still functioned as places of worship, and no steps had been taken to arrange for their 

demolition. As the crime of sodomy was incompatible with Sudanese culture, religious 

beliefs and values, there were no plans to repeal article 48. Such acts were criminal 

offences, but all the requisite safeguards were in place to ensure that persons charged with 

that offence would have a fair trial. Accused persons were entitled to seek legal assistance, 

to contact their families and to lodge appeals.  

52. The National Human Rights Commission received individual complaints, undertook 

investigations and communicated with the relevant authorities. As had been explained in 

the report and the replies to the list of issues, members of the National Intelligence and 

Security Services and police officers had procedural immunity but they did not enjoy 

immunity for criminal acts.  

53. Further training and capacity-building on international human rights and 

humanitarian law would promote respect for the rule of law, but the Sudan suffered from a 

shortage of international and donor support for such projects. He could reaffirm his 

Government’s willingness to cooperate with all relevant governmental and non-

governmental bodies that were willing to support capacity-building programmes for law 

enforcement personnel. There was a great need for capacity-building support for other types 

of government staff as well, and in-depth consultations on projects and funding for such 

activities were being conducted with OHCHR.  

54. Ms. Abdelhalim Ahmed (Sudan) said that women’s groups had been set up, even in 

remote areas, to discuss ways of advancing the status of women through political 

participation and by other means. The proportion of women holding seats in the national 

and provincial parliaments had risen from 13 per cent prior to the amendment of the 

Elections Act in 2014 to 30 per cent in 2018. Discussions were under way concerning the 

types of legal action that could be taken to promote women’s participation in all 

government institutions, including those in the executive branch, at the regional and 

national levels. Women were participating in decision-making roles and in other capacities 

in former conflict areas and in the implementation of the Doha Document for Peace in 

Darfur.  



CCPR/C/SR.3532 

GE.18-16921 11 

55. A committee, 50 per cent of whose members were women, had reviewed the 

Personal Status Code, including article 40. It had completed its work in March 2017 and 

had produced clear-cut recommendations. In addition, a parliamentary committee had been 

established in 2018 to discuss the drafting of a new article of the Code concerning the 

minimum marriageable age; that article would also set out the nature of the penalties for 

violations of its provisions. One of the findings of research conducted in 2014 had been that 

the high rate of marriage among minors (about 38 per cent) was a major contributing factor 

to the country’s high dropout rates.  

The meeting rose at 6 p.m. 


